

Loyola University Chicago

Master's Theses

Theses and Dissertations

2018

Cell Intrinsic Characteristics of Cord Blood Naive CD4 T Cells

Taylor Keller Loyola University Chicago

Follow this and additional works at: https://ecommons.luc.edu/luc_theses

Part of the Immunology and Infectious Disease Commons

Recommended Citation

Keller, Taylor, "Cell Intrinsic Characteristics of Cord Blood Naive CD4 T Cells" (2018). *Master's Theses*. 3682.

https://ecommons.luc.edu/luc_theses/3682

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Theses and Dissertations at Loyola eCommons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Master's Theses by an authorized administrator of Loyola eCommons. For more information, please contact ecommons@luc.edu.



This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-Noncommercial-No Derivative Works 3.0 License. Copyright © 2018 Taylor Keller

LOYOLA UNIVERSITY CHICAGO

CELL INTRINSIC CHARACTERISTICS OF CORD BLOOD NAÏVE CD4 T-CELLS

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF THE GRADUATE SCHOOL IN CANDIDACY FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE

PROGRAM IN INFECTIOUS DISEASE AND IMMUNOLOGY

 $\mathbf{B}\mathbf{Y}$

TAYLOR J. KELLER CHICAGO, ILLINOIS

AUGUST 2018

Copyright by Taylor J. Keller, 2018

All rights reserved.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES	iv
ABSTRACT	v
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	
Neonatal Immunity	1
T-Cell Development and Differentiation	3
T-Cell Activation and TCR Signaling	8
CHAPTER TWO: MATERIALS AND METHODS	
Mononuclear Cell Isolation and Naïve Cell Purification	13
Phenotypic Analysis of Naïve CD4 T-Cells	13
Th1 and Th2 Differentiation Assays	14
Naïve CD4 T-Cell Culture for Protein Expression Analysis	15
Western Blot	15
Statistical Analysis	16
CHAPTER THREE: DIFFERENCES BETWEEN CORD AND ADULT NAÏVE CD4 T-	
CELLS	
Introduction	17
Expression of CD26 By Cord Blood Naïve CD4 T-Cells	18
Effects of IL-7 On the Expansion and Phenotype of Naïve CD4 T-Cells	22
Cytokine Production and Differentiation of Naïve CD4 T-Cells	24
Discussion	27
CHAPTER FOUR: PROXIMAL TCR SIGNALING PROTEIN ANALYSIS IN CORD	
AND ADULT NAIVE CD4 T-CELLS	22
	32
Expression of Proximal TCK Signaling Proteins	33
Discussion	36
CHAPTER FIVE: GENERAL DISCUSSION	41
REFERENCE LIST	46
VITA	61

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Expression of CD26 by Cord and Adult Naïve CD4 T-Cells	19
Figure 2. Expression of CD26 and CD31 by Cord and Adult Naïve CD4 T-Cells	20
Figure 3. The Effects of Stimulation on CD26 Expression	21
Figure 4. The Effect of IL-7 on Cord and Adult Naïve CD4 T-Cells	23
Figure 5. Cytokine Production by Cord and Adult Blood Naïve CD4 T-Cells	26
Figure 6. Signaling Protein Expression in Cord and Adult Blood Naïve CD4 T-Cells	35

ABSTRACT

The neonatal immune system is functionally distinct from the adult immune system. Neonatal immune responses are less reactive than their adult counterparts, and as such, have an increased susceptibility to infection, resulting in increased duration and severity of disease. There is evidence that T-cells are partially responsible for the observed immunological differences between neonates and adults. Murine studies on neonatal immunity suggest that Th2 like responses predominate the neonatal immune system, an observation not found in the adult immune system. However, studies on human cord blood revealed that human neonates do not exhibit elevated Th2 like cytokines (with the exception of IL-13) when compared to adults, raising the question of whether or not neonatal T-cells are fundamentally different from adult Tcells. We sought to explore potential differences between neonatal and adult T-cells through the comparative analysis of naïve CD4 T-cells derived from cord blood and adult peripheral blood. Our data reveals that cord blood naïve CD4 T-cells have significantly higher expression of CD26. Additionally, cord blood T-cells have a greater capacity to produce Th1/Th2 cytokines than adult T-cells when prompted to differentiate into effector cell types. Additionally, undifferentiated naïve T-cells from cord blood are less responsive to stimulation than adult Tcells, however this decreased activity is likely not due to reduced expression of signaling molecules in neonatal naive T-cells.

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION

Neonatal Immunity

The perinatal immune system has been demonstrated to be distinct from the adult immune system¹. The immune system of the perinate is less reactive than their adult counterparts, and as such, has an increased susceptibility to infection, resulting in increased duration and severity of disease². Furthermore, infections are the leading cause of death in newborn babies³. This increased susceptibility to infection is attributed to unresponsiveness of the adaptive immune response and deficiencies in the innate response to infection. The adaptive immune response is highly dependent on T-cell function. T helper cells (Th) are responsible for activating cell mediated responses, through CD8 T-cells, and humoral responses, through B cells. Neonatal T-cells have been described as tolerogenic and anti-inflammatory, and as such, the adaptive immune response contributes little to host protective immunity, leaving the neonate heavily reliant on a functional innate response to fight off infection⁴.

Despite their reliance on proper function of the innate immune system, neonates have deficiencies in key players, leaving them highly susceptible to prolonged and severe infections. When compared to adults, neonates have deficiencies in neutrophil response to infection through smaller cell numbers, decreased cell mobilization, and functional deficiencies^{5,6}. In addition, neonates have reduced levels of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II expression on monocytes, CD80 and CD86 (together referred to as B7) ligands on monocytes and dendritic

cells, downregulation of genes in pathways involved with innate activation, and critical innate cytokine production⁷. These deficiencies not only leave them vulnerable to severe infection and sepsis, but they also contribute to reduced activation of T-cells – as evident by the reduction in MHC class II and the co-stimulatory B7 expression.

However, the unresponsiveness observed in the neonate has been revealed to play a crucial role in their development and can be referred to as tolerogenic⁸. Perinatal tolerance was first described by Ray Owen, whose observations about twin fetal bovine red blood cells and their unresponsiveness to previously encountered antigen later in life suggested that immunological tolerance to foreign cells may occur before birth⁹. It soon became apparent that the development of tolerance to an antigen was dependent on the timing of the exposure. Specifically, antigenic exposure during immune development may result in immunological tolerance to that antigen later in life. Medawar *et al.* played a crucial role in this revelation through their research. They demonstrated that mice could accept skin grafts from a different strain if they had previously been inoculated *in utero* with cells from the future donor strain¹⁰. The development of tolerance is crucial yet delicate concept, as birth presents immense challenges to the newborn child; requiring them to learn and adapt to environmental antigens and commensal bacteria while at the same time forming protective immune responses against potential pathogens¹¹.

However, the exact mechanisms explaining the tolerogenic behavior of the neonate and how this tolerance evolves into the reactive nature observed in older children and adults are not well understood. There is gathering evidence, primarily with animal models, that suggests there are intrinsic differences in neonatal and adult T-cells, and that they are a causative agent for the observed immunological differences seen between the two populations¹². In fact, there are documented differences between adult and neonatal T-cells, with neonates exhibiting deficiencies in their proliferative response to antigenic stimulation, diminished ability to activate B cells, decreased cytokine production, lesser cytotoxic activity, and have an altered cytokine profile¹³⁻¹⁸. Each factor is contributing to the decreased cellular immune response observed in the neonate. Therefore, we seek to explore potential mechanisms contributing to the diminished activity of neonatal T-cells though the analysis of cell intrinsic characteristics. An intrinsic analysis allows for an isolated study of the neonatal T-cell population in the absence of other cells and molecules that may have unknown effects on T-cell activity. A thorough understanding of the T-cell population alone will provide a baseline understanding of the population that is needed for future analysis of the neonatal immune system as a whole.

T-Cell Development and Differentiation

T-cells are crucial for the immune system to protect the host, and as such, they need to be able to distinguish self from foreign antigens through proper activity of the T-cell receptor $(TCR)^{19,20}$. T-cells learn how to distinguish self from non-self during thymic development, which starts with the migration of lymphoid precursor cells from the bone marrow to the thymus²¹. In the thymus, the majority of T-cell progenitor cells differentiate into mature subsets expressing either CD8 or CD4 and a highly specific $\alpha\beta$ TCRs. The generation of and selection for a T-cell population with a viable TCR capable of recognizing antigen is crucial to proper immune function. This selection process results in viable T-cells that have TCRs capable of recognizing

and tolerating self-peptide while eliminating those cells incapable of recognizing peptide with sufficient specificity²². This process occurs in two main steps during thymocyte development: positive and negative selection. Initially, double positive (DP) thymocytes, expressing both CD4 and CD8 co-receptors, go through positive selection. The ability of DP cells to recognize self-peptide presented on MHC by thymic epithelial cells ensures they will be positively selected for, while those cells incapable of recognition are removed via apoptosis²³⁻²⁵. Not only does the recognition of self-peptide promote their survival, but it also establishes MHC restriction through the differentiation of the DP thymocytes into either CD8 or CD4 single positive (SP) cells depending on their relative affinity for class I or class II MHC²⁶. Positive selection is a crucial step for proper T-cell function, as they need to be capable of recognizing self MHC in the periphery as a mature T-cell.

After positive selection, the MHC-restricted T-cells undergo negative selection, which is a process that allows for the removal of autoreactive cells^{20,27}. Negative selection is a critical step, as it removes thymocytes that recognize and bind to self-peptides too strongly, only allowing those cells capable of recognizing self, but at lower affinity, survive. The autoreactive cells with high affinity for self-MHC/peptide need to be removed prior to thymic emigration, as they are dangerous to the host. Only a small percentage of the original immature thymocyte pool pass the selection process and are released into the blood and secondary lymphoid tissues. Cells initially released from the thymus are known as recent thymic emigrants (RTEs), which transition into mature naive T-cells after establishing residence within secondary lymphoid organs²⁸⁻³⁰.

The defining characteristic of naïve T-cells is that they, unlike memory and effector Tcells, have not yet encountered their cognate antigen in peripheral lymphoid tissue. Naïve T-cells are crucial to the initiation of the adaptive immune response by reacting to new pathogens that the immune system has not previously encountered. Phenotypically, naïve T-cells can be characterized by the surface antigen expression of CD45RA in the absence of the memory CD45RO isoform³¹. Additionally, naïve T-cells have been known to express CD28, CD62L, interleukin (IL)-7 receptor α -chain (CD127), and CCR7, although these are not unique to the naïve pheonotype^{31,32}. They also lack the traditional activation markers CD25, CD44, and CD69³².

However, comparisons between the adult and neonatal naïve CD4 T-cell populations have revealed phenotypic and functional differences between the two populations. Phenotypically, human adult and neonatal naïve T-cells both express CD45RA as well as the costimulatory CD28 molecule but differ in the expression of CD38 and the IL-7 receptor α -chain, which are both more highly expressed on neonatal naïve T-cells than adult naïve T-cells^{12,33}. There are also differences in the initiation and strength of response to antigenic stimulation, with neonatal naïve T-cells having been characterized as hyporeactive when compared to adults³⁴. Neonatal and adult peripheral blood naïve T-cells also differ in their susceptibility to apoptosis, as neonatal T-cells have been shown to be more susceptible to apoptosis, and thus, also have a higher rate of cell turnover than their adult counterparts^{12,33,35}. However, neonatal naïve T-cell apoptosis can be prevented via IL-2 cytokine signaling through the γ -chain of the IL-2 receptor³⁵. IL-4, IL-7, and IL-15 have also been documented to serve anti-apoptotic functions for naïve T- cells^{12,36,37}. There may be differences in other molecules: nuclear factor of activated T-cells (NFAT) and CD154 (also known as CD40 ligand) between cord and adult naïve CD4 T-cells, but there is controversy about their expression. NFAT expression in neonates is widely debated, with evidence suggesting that NFAT is expressed at lower levels in neonates than adults, while other groups have data suggesting that there is no significant difference in NFAT expression³⁸⁻⁴⁰. Similarly, CD154 has conflicting data indicating that neonates have deficiencies in CD154 when compared to adults while other groups report higher CD154 expression within the neonatal naïve CD4 T-cell population than those from adults⁴¹⁻⁴⁵.

After thymic egress and migration to secondary lymphoid tissues, naïve T-cells encounter antigen presented by antigen presenting cells (APCs) and can differentiate into effector and memory cells through stimulation of the TCR in the presence of cytokines⁴⁶⁻⁴⁸. The specific cytokine environment helps with the upregulation and expression of different transcription factors that both determine the type of effector cell and the role that it will play in the immune response⁴⁹. Th1 subsets arise from the presence of IL-12 and interferon- γ (IFN γ) leading to the upregulation of the transcription factor T-bet^{50,51}. The Th1 effector population produces tumor necrosis factor- β (TNF β), IFN γ , and IL-12, and is responsible for multiple cell-mediated immune functions including the activation of cytotoxic T-cells and macrophages⁵². Naïve T-cells may also give rise to Th2 effector cell subsets through the presence of IL-4, which triggers a signaling pathway that ultimately upregulates the transcription factor GATA-3⁵³⁻⁵⁵. Th2 cells are linked with a humoral type immune response and produce a plethora of cytokines including IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-9, IL-10, and IL-13⁵². Another T helper cell subset, Th17 cells, are inflammatory T-cells induced by the presence of transforming growth factor- β (TGF β), IL-23, and IL-6, leading to the upregulation of the transcription factor RAR-related orphan receptor gamma (ROR γ t) and ultimately to the production of IL-17, IL-21, and IL-22⁵⁶⁻⁵⁹. The last major T helper effector subtype, induced T regulatory cells (iTregs), have important anti-inflammatory effects through their cytokine production and can also directly suppress other T-cells. iTregs do not originate from the thymus, as natural Tregs (nTregs) do; instead, this subset develops from naïve T-cells that are activated in secondary lymphoid tissues in the presence of TGF β and IL-2, leading to the upregulation of the Foxp3 transcription factor and the production of IL-10 and TGF $\beta^{60,61}$. While there are many effector subsets, it has generally been considered that Th2 like responses predominate neonatal immune system, thus helping to explain the decreased inflammatory responses and tolerogenic immune characteristics associated with neonates.

In 1993, Wegmann *et al.* proposed that pregnant woman develop a Th2 biased immune enviornment⁶². While these Th2 conditions leave pregnant woman more susceptible to intracellular pathogens, it is advantageous because it would help create a more tolerant immune system and thus, be able to permit the presence and development a fetal allograft. This proposal was built upon animal models which showed that immune responses to infection or the addition of the Th1 cytokines IFN γ or IL-2 resulted in fetal death - thus demonstrating the importance of Th2 conditions and the dangers of robust immune response during pregnancy⁶³. This hypothesis was strengthened by studies on human PBMCs, collected after spontaneous abortions or during preeclampsia, which reported more Th1 than Th2 cytokine production when compared to PBMCs from healthy pregnant women⁶⁴⁻⁶⁶. Based off this proposal, the immune system of the perinate has been hypothesized to also have a Th2 bias due to their consistent exposure to the maternal Th2-inducing environment⁶⁷. This hypothesis has been supported through the observation that neonates have deficits in the production of Th1 inducing cytokines (IFN γ and IL-12) by neonatal monocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells in addition to a hyporesonsiveness of neonatal monocytes to IFN γ^{68-74} . Murine models have also provided strength to this hypothesis by demonstrating that the neonatal T-cells are poised to endogenously produce Th2 like cytokines and have a propensity to secrete elevated levels of Th2 cytokines and reduced levels of Th1 cytokines when compared to adult mice⁷⁵⁻⁷⁷.

T-Cell Activation and TCR Signaling

T-cells derived from umbilical cord blood have been shown to have reduced activation in response to antigenic stimulation, as evident by their deficiencies in proliferation and decreased cytokine production¹³. T-cell activation is mediated by the TCR and its interaction with the appropriate MHC on an antigen presenting cell (APC)⁷⁸⁻⁸¹. This interaction is facilitated by the specificity of the TCR, which is determined though DNA recombination events during thymic T-cell development^{82,83}. The majority of T-cells contain a heterodimer TCR composed of one α-chain and one β-chain, while a small and functionally distinct population consists of γδ chains⁸⁴⁻⁸⁶. The transmembrane αβ TCR heterodimer is non-covalently associated with a signaling complex composed of the heterodimer complexes CD3εγ and CD3εδ and with the homodimer CD3ζζ⁸⁷⁻⁸⁹. Together, these molecules form the TCR-CD3 complex and are essential for T-cell activation through signal transduction^{90,91}. Activation events may occur after T-cell recognition of specific antigen within the context of MHC^{92,93}.

Signaling events are largely mediated by several proteins and immunoreceptor tyrosinebased activation motifs (ITAM) present on the cytoplasmic tails of the signaling molecules CD3 and ζ chain but can also be found on other molecules not confined to the TCR complex, such as the gamma subunit of the Fc receptor⁹⁴⁻⁹⁶. After the tight binding of the T-cell to the MHCpeptide complex, receptor clustering results in the phosphorylation of ITAM tyrosines by Src family kinases such as the proto-oncogene tyrosine-protein kinase Fyn (Fyn) or the T-cell specific lymphocyte-specific protein-tyrosine kinase (LCK)⁹⁷⁻¹⁰⁰. The ability of LCK to phosphorylate ITAM motifs occurs after its recruitment and subsequent activation by the phosphatase CD45^{101,102}. The phosphorylated ITAM motifs act as a docking site for ζ-associated protein of 70 kDa (Zap70)¹⁰³. Zap70, a Syk family kinase, is recruited to the site and binds the phosphorylated ITAM sites through its SH2 domains^{103,104}. Furthermore, upon Zap70's binding to ITAM sequences, LCK phosphorylates and further activates Zap70, allowing for Zap70 to propagate TCR signaling events¹⁰⁴. Zap70 phosphorylates the linker of activation of T-cells (LAT) on multiple residues, which serves as a signaling hub for different downstream events¹⁰⁵. One of the functions of phosphorylated LAT is the recruitment and subsequent activation of phospholipase C gamma-1 (PLC γ 1), which is further activated through its phosphorylation mediated by interleukin-2 inducible T-cell kinase (ITK)^{106,107}. Once activated, PLC_γ1 hydrolyzes phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP₂) into 1,4,5-triphosphate (IP₃) and diacylglycerol (DAG), each serving a different function in T-cell activation¹⁰⁸. The hydrolysis of PIP₂ into IP₃ leads to downstream calcium mobilization through the release of calcium from the endoplasmic reticulum in addition to the influx of extracellular calcium¹⁰⁹. Calcium mobilization drives

NFAT into the nucleus, where it regulates the production of several cytokine genes¹¹⁰. DAG leads to the activation of both RAS guanyl-releasing protein (Ras-GRP) and protein kinase C θ (PKC θ), which both contribute to the process of T-cell activation^{111,112}. PKC θ leads to the downstream activation of the transcription factor nuclear factor κ -B (NF κ B), which activates a number of target genes including those ultimately responsible for the production of IL-2^{113,114}. The activation of Ras-GRP, on the other hand, eventually leads to the downstream activation of the transcription factor, activator protein-1 (AP-1), which regulates gene expression and promotes cytokine secretion^{115,116}.

Co-receptors play a crucial role in T-cell activation, helping to stabilize the interaction between the T-cell and APC. Signaling through the TCR alone, in the absence of co-stimulatory molecules, results in an anergic state in which the T-cell becomes unresponsive to subsequent stimulation. Co-stimulation is necessary for providing additional signals and stabilization that allow for the avoidance of T-cell anergy and allow for full activation of the cell. There are several co-stimulatory molecules, most importantly CD4/CD8 and CD28. T-cell CD4 or CD8 coreceptors bind class I or class II MHC molecules, respectively and help TCR bind its MHC counterpart. CD28, on the other hand, binds the ligands of the B7 family, CD80 (B7-1) and CD86 (B7-2) on APCs to enhance TCR signaling and results in a much more robust response than other co-stimulatory molecules¹¹⁷. B7 ligands are only expressed by professional APCs, however dendritic cells appear to constitutively express CD80/86 while macrophages and B cells are able to upregulate B7 expression after activation¹¹⁸. Studies involving CD28 deficient mice demonstrated its importance in T-cell activation, revealing that the absence of CD28 resulted in dampened TCR-mediated immune responses¹¹⁹. Another prominent co-stimulatory receptor for T-cells is the inducible co-stimulatory (ICOS), which helps provide positive co-stimulation for T-cell activation similarly to CD28. ICOS differs from CD28 in the fact that it does not bind CD80 and CD86, but instead binds another member of the B7 family, ICOS-ligand (ICOS-L), which is also expressed on APCs¹²⁰. Murine models deficient in ICOS revealed its role in the Tcell response, as there was a reduction in cytokine production and T-cell proliferation in the absence of the receptor¹²⁰. Differences in the expression patterns of ICOS and CD28 suggest that they play distinct roles in T-cell activation. While all T-cells express CD28, the naïve T-cell population, for example, expresses the CD28 co-stimulatory molecule but does not express ICOS, which is only expressed on effector and memory T-cells^{121,122}. This may be evidence that suggests initial T-cell activation is largely mediated by CD28 co-stimulation while ICOS has an important function in maintaining the activity of cells that have already differentiated into effector and memory subsets.

While CD28 and ICOS are positive co-stimulatory molecules that serve to enhance T-cell activation, there are also negative costimulatory receptors that serve to inhibit TCR signaling. Negative costimulatory receptors are not expressed by naïve T-cells, which allows them to serve an important role in the initiation of the immune response and become activated in secondary lymphoid tissues. These negative costimulatory receptors are, on the other hand, upregulated in effector cell populations at the end of the immune response, serving to stop cell proliferation when it is no longer needed. There are two main negative costimulatory receptors for T-cells: cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4 (CTLA-4) and programmed cell death protein 1

(PD-1). CTLA-4, also known as CD152, is structurally similar to CD28 and binds the same B7 family ligands, CD80 and CD86, expressed by APCs^{123,124}. CTLA-4 is not constitutively expressed on resting T-cells, but rather is induced within 24 hours after stimulation and binds B7 ligands with much higher affinity than CD28¹²³. Studies with CTLA-4 knockout mice demonstrated its function as a negative costimulatory molecule, as mice lacking CTLA-4 presented with lymphadenopathy, splenomegaly, autoimmunity, and ultimately death within 4 weeks after birth as a result of uninhibited T-cell proliferation^{125,126}. PD-1, which may be referred to as CD279, also inhibits TCR mediated activation through its binding to other B7 family members, PD-L1 and PD-L2^{127,128}. PD-1's role in the inhibition of proliferative T-cell responses was evident *in vivo*, revealing that PD-1 knockout mice developed lupus-like glomerulonephritis and dilated cardiomyopathy^{129,130}. Further *in vitro* studies also demonstrated that IFNγ and IL-2 cytokine production and T-cell proliferation were reduced in anti-CD3 stimulated T-cells that were treated with a PD-L1 immunoglobulin^{127,131}.

CHAPTER TWO

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Mononuclear Cell Isolation and Naïve Cell Purification

Naïve CD4 T-cells were isolated from healthy adult and umbilical cord donors from the National Institute of Health and the Loyola University medical center, respectively. All donors met the outlined exclusion criteria: 1. Usage of glucocorticoids, immunosuppressants, or any other drugs with known effects on the immune system; 2. Evidence or presence of malignancies; 3. Autoimmune disease; 4. Active infection; 5. Uncontrolled hypo or hyperthyroidism. Mononuclear cells were isolated though density gradient centrifugation with Lymphocyte Separation Medium (Corning)and red blood cells were lysed with ACK lysis buffer (Gibco). Recovered mononuclear cells were resuspended in with RPMI 1640 (Hyclone) supplemented with 10% fetal calf serum. Naïve CD4 T-cells were purified via negative selection using an EasySep Human Naïve CD4 T-cell Enrichment Kit (Stem Cell Technologies).

Phenotypic Analysis of Naïve CD4 T-Cells

Purified naïve CD4 T-cells were cultured in a 96 round bottom plate at 0.3 x 10⁵ cells per well in the presence of 20 ng/ml recombinant human IL-7 (PeproTech) and maintained in RPMI 1640 (Hyclone) supplemented with 10% fetal calf serum. Culture media was changed every 2-3 days and concentrations of IL-7 were maintained throughout the duration of the culture. Naïve phenotype was assessed on day 0 and day 7 via flow cytometry (BD FACSCANTO II Flow

Cytometer, BD Biosciences) with the use of anti-CD4, anti-CD45RA, anti-CD26, anti-CD31 (BioLegend), and anti-CD45RO (BD Biosciences). Additionally, 1 x 10^6 naïve cells were stimulated for 4 hours on day 0 with phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA) (50 ng/ml; Fisher Scientific, Hampton, NH) and ionomycin (1 μ M; Sigma-Aldrich) in the presence of fresh media. Culture supernatants were collected after stimulation and production of TNF α , IFN γ , IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 was assessed with use of the LEGENDplex Human Th Cytokine Panel (Biolegend) and the BD FACSCANTO II Flow Cytometer (BD Biosciences).

Th1 and Th2 Differentiation Assays

Purified naïve CD4 T-cells were maintained in IL-7 (20ng/ml; PeproTech) for 7 days, then stimulated with plate bound anti-CD3 (OKT3; 5ug/ml; BioLegend) and anti-CD28 (28.2; 5ug/ml; BioLegend) and cultured in the presence of Th1 or Th2 skewing conditions through the use of a Human Th1 or Th2 Differentiation Kit (R&D Systems) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Cells under neutral conditions were cultured in the presence of IL-2 alone. Cells under Th1 conditions were harvested on day 5 while cells under Th2 conditions were harvested on day 13 and washed with RPMI 1640 (Hyclone) supplemented with 10% fetal calf serum. 1 x 10⁶ cells from each condition were stimulated with phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA) (50 ng/ml; Fisher Scientific) and ionomycin (1 μ M; Sigma-Aldrich) in the presence of fresh media for 4 hours. After stimulation, culture supernatants were collected and analyzed for production of TNF α , IFN γ , IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 with the LEGENDplex Human Th Cytokine Panel (Biolegend) and the BD FACSCANTO II Flow Cytometer (BD Biosciences).

Naïve CD4 T-Cell Culture for Protein Expression Analysis

A 96 well flat bottom non-tissue cultured plate was coated with 5ug/ml of anti-CD3 (OKT3; 5 μ g/mL; BioLegend) and anti-CD28 (28.2; 5 μ g/mL; BioLegend) and incubated at room temperature for 3 hours. Plate was then washed with DPBS twice and blocked with RPMI 1640 (Hyclone) supplemented with 10% fetal calf serum for one hour. Blocking media was removed and 2.5x10⁵ isolated naïve CD4 T-cells were added per well. The plate was then spun down at 700 RPM for 5 minutes, then cultured at 37°C for either 30 minutes, 3 hours, or 24 hours. Triton X-100 lysates of the soluble fraction were collected.

Western Blot

Cells harvested and lysed in Triton X-100 lysis buffer. Lysates were protein quantified with use of the Pierce BCA protein assay kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and measured at A562nm via BioTek Powerwave XS (BioTek). Soluble lysates were loaded into a 10% acrylamide gel at 100 μ g/well. Proteins were fractionated via SDS-PAGE, which was run at 60V through the stacking gel and at 120V through the resolving gel. Samples were then transferred onto a membrane (EDM Millipore) at 4°C either overnight at 30V or two hours at 300mA. After which, membranes were blocked in 5% nonfat milk for one hour at 23°C. Membrane was washed and incubated with primary antibody against PLC γ (1:500; Cell Signaling), Zap70 (1:100,000; Novus Biologicals), LCK (1:5000; gifted from Y. Koga, Tokai University), ζ -Chain (1:1000; Santa Cruz Biotechnology), and β -actin (1:10,000; Sigma-Aldrich) for two hours at 23°C or overnight at 4°C. Membranes were washed three times for 5-7 minutes, then incubated with HRP conjugated anti-mouse or anti-rabbit secondary antibodies (Cell Signaling) in 2.5% nonfat milk for 1 hour at 23°C. Membranes were then washed three times for 5-7 minutes and visualized with use of chemiluminescent film (GE Healthcare) and Pierce ECL western substrate (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Protein levels were quantitated through the use of ImageJ software. To blot for additional proteins, membranes were stripped using stripping buffer (2% SDS, 50mM Tris, pH 6.8) at 56°C for 30 minutes, then washed in deionized water (DI) twice for 10 minutes each, washed in TBST, blocked in 5% nonfat milk, and probed with additional antibodies.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis of data was done via GraphPad Prism software. Cytokine and protein expression levels were analyzed with a two-tailed student's unpaired t-test (p < 0.05).

CHAPTER THREE

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN CORD AND ADULT NAÏVE CD4 T-CELLS Introduction

The neonatal immune system is tolerogenic, and as such, is phenotypically and functionally different from adults. Studies with mice have shown that the perinatal immune system has a tendency for T-cells to produce elevated Th2 type cytokines and reduced levels of Th1 cytokines when compared to their adult counterparts^{75,76}. This Th2 bias in neonates is partially due to intrinsic properties that make them prone to the production of Th2 associated cytokines – an observation not found in CD4 T-cells from adult blood⁷⁷. However, there has been evidence that gene expression for both Th1 like cytokines (IFNγ) as well as Th2 like cytokines (IL-4) are suppressed in perinatal T-cells¹³².

This being said, the majority of our understanding of the neonatal immune response is the product of animal research and the human perinatal T-cell response is largely uncharacterized. There is evidence that suggests that the two systems are not completely similar, and thus reveals a need for species specific analysis of neonatal immunity. For instance, one mouse study demonstrated that neonate memory T-cells had a small Th1 cytokine profile and a robust Th2 type cytokine response to tetanus toxoid vaccination¹³³. This is in contrast to some human studies, one of which focusing on T-cells isolated from cord blood and 3-month-old infants that

showed no increased propensity for Th2 cytokine production, except for IL-13¹³⁴. This was also seen with cord blood T-cells *in vitro*, as they also displayed no propensity to produce Th2 cytokines apart from elevated levels of IL-13^{135,136}. Together, these data suggest that the human and mouse perinatal immune systems respond differently, thus emphasizing the need for a more detailed analysis of the human perinatal T-cell population. We seek to determine the intrinsic cellular and molecular differences between the perinate and adult immune systems. It is known that the cellular composition of the perinatal immune system differs significantly from the adult system, with naïve T-cells making up the of cord blood cells while effector/memory T-cells population in order to avoid the influences and analytical complexities that may arise from multiple cell populations.

Expression of CD26 By Cord Blood Naïve CD4 T-Cells

T-cells need co-stimulatory molecules, like CD28, for enhanced stimulation and the propagation of a robust immune response. While CD28 elicits a robust immune response, there are other co-stimulatory molecules that aid in the enhancement of T-cell activation. There is evidence that another co-stimulatory molecule may be CD26. CD26 is a glycoprotein expressed on the surface of several cell types including epithelial cells of the liver, kidney, intestine, and T-cells¹³⁸. The exact role that CD26 plays in the immune response is relatively unknown, however. Previous work by a member of our lab showed that T-cells secrete soluble CD26 (data not shown). This knowledge, when combined with the many unknowns about the expression and function within human T-cell populations, prompted us to compare surface CD26 expression

between cord and adult blood naïve CD4 T-cells, hypothesizing that CD26 surface expression may differ between the two groups. This is a distinct possibility, as there are already other documented differences in other surface antigens, such as CD127, between cord and adult blood naïve CD4 T-cells¹².



Figure 1. Expression of CD26 by Cord and Adult Naïve CD4 T-Cells. (A) Expression of CD26 by CD45RA⁺ and CD45RO⁺ CD4 T-cell populations from cord blood (CB) and adult blood. (B) Percentage of cells expressing CD26 within CD45RA⁺ and CD45RO⁺ CD4 T-cell populations from 6 cord blood and 6 adult blood donors. Bars represent mean percentage of CD26⁺ cells.

In order to determine intrinsic differences between cord and adult blood derived naïve CD4 T-cells, we first defined the naïve population as those cells expressing CD45RA in the absence of CD45RO expression. When the cells were stained for CD26, we found significant

differences in its expression between cord blood and adult peripheral blood naïve CD4 T-cells (Fig. 1). In the adult cohort, CD26^{hi} cells were mostly CD45RA⁻ CD45RO⁺ cells, with a fraction of CD45RA⁺ naïve CD4 T-cells expressing low levels of CD26. This was strikingly different than results obtained from cord blood T-cells, which revealed close to 100% of CD45⁺ naïve T-cells expressing high levels of CD26.



Figure 2. Expression of CD26 and CD31 by Cord and Adult Naïve CD4 T-Cells. (A) Expression of CD31 in the CD45RA⁺ population of cord and adult blood. (B) Percentage of CD26^{hi} cells expressing CD31 in cord blood and adult blood T-cells from 3 cord blood and 3 adult blood donors. Bars represent mean percentage. ** p < 0.01.

Elevated levels of CD26 expression by cord blood T-cells could be explained by the high frequency of RTEs in cord blood, as cord blood in known to have much larger RTE population than adult peripheral blood¹³⁷. We can identify cells within the RTE population through the expression of CD31, which is a known marker for RTEs expressed by naïve CD45RA⁺ cells¹³⁹. If CD26 is related to the RTE population, we would expect that all CD26^{hi} T-cells in both cord

blood and adult blood to co-express CD26 and CD31. When looking at CD45RA⁺ populations, both cord and adult blood express CD31 (Fig. 2A). However, when analyzing the CD26^{hi} population of both cord and adult T-cells, only cord blood displayed CD26^{hi} and CD31 co-expression, while adult CD26^{hi} cells did not co-express CD31 (Fig. 2B).



Figure 3. The Effects of Stimulation on CD26 Expression. Expression of CD26 and CD45RA by cord blood and adult blood T-cells with and without stimulation by anti-CD3 for 2 days.

Additionally, CD26 expression has been shown to be upregulated in response to antigenic stimulation, so we wanted to see if TCR stimulation would change surface CD26 expression in cord and adult blood cells¹⁴⁰. To test this, naïve CD4 T-cells were stimulated with plate bound anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 antibodies, harvested, and stained for CD26 expression. We observed no significant change in CD26 expression in cord blood, with CD26 expression slightly increasing from 80.4% in the unstimulated condition to 86.5% after stimulation. This is in

contrast to adult cells, which showed a larger upregulation in CD26, increasing from 20.7% to 37.0% after stimulation (Fig. 3). Together, these data suggest that CD26 may be a potential cord blood naïve CD4 T-cell marker and that its regulation differs between cord and adult naïve CD4 T-cells.

Effects of IL-7 On the Expansion and Phenotype of Naïve CD4 T-Cells

Continuing our investigation of intrinsic differences between cord and adult peripheral blood naïve CD4 T-cells, we compared the ability of CB and AB naïve CD4 T-cells to respond to IL-7. IL-7 is a critical survival cytokine with anti-apoptotic effects for naïve T-cells and plays a central role in the homeostatic expansion of T-cells¹⁴¹. IL-7 signals through its binding to CD127, which is expressed at high levels in cord blood naïve T-cells and at reduced levels in CD4⁺ CD25^{hi} T regs¹⁴². *Ex vivo*, IL-7 has been shown to be required for the expansion of naïve, memory, and CD31⁺ T-cells have been shown to proliferate in response to IL-7^{141,143,144}. As we observed previously, only a small subset of adult naïve T-cells are CD31⁺ while the majority of cord blood naïve T-cells and adult peripheral blood naïve CD4 T-cells respond differently to IL-7. To test this, we isolated naïve CD4 T-cells from cord and adult peripheral blood and cultured them in the presence of IL-7 for 7 days. After this time, the cells were harvested and both proliferative responses and surface antigen expression were examined.



Figure 4. The Effect of IL-7 on Cord and Adult Naïve CD4 T-Cells. (A) Proliferative response as indicated by change in cell numbers from day 0 to day 7 after culture in the presence of IL-7. Bars represent mean percentage difference from day 0. ** p < 0.01. (B, C) Phenotypic analysis of naïve CD4 T-cells before and after culture with IL-7 for 7 days. Analysis before IL-7 culture (day 0) was performed directly after naïve cell isolation. Bars represent mean percentage of CD45RA⁺ and CD45RO⁺, respectively.

Adult naïve CD4 T-cells had no proliferative response after 7 days of culture with IL-7

while cord blood naïve CD4 T-cells expanded nearly 2-fold under the same conditions (Fig. 4A). This highlights the idea that cord blood naïve T-cells have different requirements for IL-7 induced homeostatic expansion when compared to adult naïve CD4 T-cells. Analysis of surface antigen expression revealed similar results for both cord and adult T-cells after the 7 day culture in IL-7, as both maintained their naïve phenotype, as characterized by the presence of CD45RA in the absence of the CD45RO memory isoform (Fig. 4B and C).

Cytokine Production and Differentiation of Naïve CD4 T-Cells

Previous mouse studies suggest that perinatal T-cells have an elevated propensity to produce Th2 type cytokines when compared to adults^{75,76}. Additionally, studies on human T-cells suggest that T-cells expressing CD26 have a propensity to produce IL-17¹⁴⁵. Therefore, we wanted to investigate which cytokines are produced by human cord blood derived naïve CD4 Tcells and whether human cord blood T-cells also have a propensity to produce Th2 like cytokines. To start, we analyzed cytokine profiles of freshly isolated naïve CD4 T-cells from cord blood and adult peripheral blood with/without stimulation with PMA and ionomycin for 4 hours. Our data shows that, when stimulated, adult peripheral blood naïve CD4 T-cells produce more IFNγ than cord blood naïve CD4 T-cells (Fig. 5A). Both cord blood and adult blood naïve CD4 T-cells produced similar amounts of IL-2 and TNF, while neither produced appreciable levels of IL-17. We also did not see cord blood naïve T-cells produce the Th2 cytokines IL-4, IL-5, or IL-13 (data not shown). Together, our data reveal that fresh cord blood naïve CD4 T-cells are not pre-programmed to produce Th2 like cytokines and do not produce the same level of Th1 or Th2 type cytokines that is observed in adult naïve CD4 T-cells.

We then tested the hypothesis that cord blood naïve CD4 T-cells, rather than adult naïve CD4 T-cells, have a tendency to become Th2 type effector cells. We isolated naïve CD4 T-cells from cord and adult blood, held them in culture for 1 week in IL-7, and then cultured them in the presence of neutral (Th0), Th1, or Th2 skewing conditions. Cells were harvested and restimulated with PMA and ionomycin for 4 hours, after which supernatant was collected and cytokine production was analyzed (Fig. 5 B-D). Adult and cord blood cells, under neutral/Th0

conditions, showed no difference in cytokine profile (Fig. 5B). Under Th1 polarizing conditions, cord blood cells produced significantly more IFNγ than those cells from adults (Fig. 5C). However, we did not detect any differences in cytokine production in other Th1 cytokines. Additionally, Th2 skewing conditions resulted in cord blood producing significantly more IL-5 and, while not statistically significant, IL-13, than adult blood cells (Fig. 5D). These data suggest that cord blood naïve CD4 T-cells have a higher capacity to produce both Th1 and Th2 like cytokines than adult naïve CD4 T-cells, as evident by the production of IFNγ, IL-5, and IL-13 when exposed to effector cell differentiation conditions.



Figure 5. Cytokine Production by Cord and Adult Blood Naïve CD4 T-Cells. (A) Cord and adult naïve CD4 T-cells were isolated and stimulated (+) with PMA and ionomycin or left unstimulated (-) for 4 hours. Supernatant was collected and cytokine production was assessed. (B) Naïve CD4 T-cells were isolated from adult and cord blood donors and cultured with IL-7 for 7 days. On day 7, cells were collected and stimulated with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 antibodies for 5 days. Cells were then collected and either stimulated with PMA and ionomycin (+) or left unstimulated (-). (C) Naïve CD4 T-cells were isolated from adult and cord blood donors and cultured for 7 days with IL-7. After 7 days, cells were harvested and stimulated in the presence of Th1 skewing conditions for 5 days. After this time, cells were restimulated and analyzed in the same manner as (B). (D) Naïve CD4 T-cells were isolated from adult and cord blood donors and cultured for 7 days with IL-7. After 7 days, cells were harvested the same manner as (B). (D) Naïve CD4 T-cells were isolated from adult and cord blood donors and cultured for 7 days with IL-7. After 7 days, cells were harvested and stimulated in the presence of Th2 skewing conditions for 13 days. After this time, cells were collected and restimulated and analyzed as in (B). Bars represent mean cytokine production for 3 cord and 3 adult donors. *p < 0.05. **p < 0.005.

Discussion

Taken together, our data suggest that cord blood naïve CD4 T-cells are programmed differently from adult naïve CD4 T-cells. Our data shows that cord blood naïve CD4 T-cells have high levels of CD26 expression that is not uniformly expressed in adult peripheral blood naïve CD4 T-cells. Unique high protein expression in cord blood derived naïve CD4 T-cells could serve as a potential cellular marker for this cell population. There is some literature supporting this result, as previous work has shown that CD45RA expression is positively correlated with CD26 expression in cord blood T-cells¹⁴⁶. However, other documents have reported CD26 is expressed by memory T-cells, but not by the naïve population¹⁴⁷. Additionally, we also observed that stimulation of adult naïve CD4 T-cells allows for the induction and increased expression of CD26 while having little effect on the cord blood derived naïve population, whose CD26 expression only slightly increased upon stimulation.

CD26 is an enzyme with known dipeptidyl peptidase 4 (DPPIV) activity in its extracellular domain, allowing it to cleave proline's and alanine's at the N-terminus of chemokines and other natural substrates^{148,149}. It is known that CD26 is important for digestion and is a regulator of glucose metabolism through its inactivation of glucagon like peptide 1 (GLP1) and other insulinotropic proteins¹⁵⁰. As such, the inhibitor for DPPIV is used clinically for the treatment of diabetic patients¹⁵¹. In addition to its dipeptidase activity, CD26 is capable of binding the ligand adenosine deaminase (ADA), an essential factor for immune competence in neonates¹⁵². ADA deficiencies cause severe immune deficiencies in adolescents and neonates; in fact, 15% of all severe combined immunodeficiency (SCID) cases are caused by deficiencies in ADA¹⁵³. ADA is an enzyme involved in purine metabolism and is responsible for the deamination of adenosine into the nucleoside inosine¹⁵⁴. Endogenous adenosine is sensed by receptors that then prevent the downregulation of the IL-7 receptor α -chain after TCR stimulation, ultimately increasing naïve T-cell survival¹⁵⁵. Extracellular adenosine has been shown to be inhibitory to T-cell proliferation and the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines like IFN γ , TNF α , and IL-2, but does not affect the production of IL-4 or IL-5¹⁵⁶. Inhibition of proliferation by adenosine has also been shown to be prevented through the enzymatic activity of ADA¹³⁸. Evidence also suggests that the binding of ADA to CD26 may protect T-cells from the adenosine-mediated inhibition of T-cell proliferation¹⁵⁷⁻¹⁶⁰.

Additionally, CD26 may have a role in T-cell activation, although its exact function is not universally agreed upon. There are studies suggesting that CD26 is not directly linked to T-cell activation, while other studies argue that it has positive/negative co-stimulatory roles¹⁶¹⁻¹⁶³.

There is evidence that CD26 may help provide positive co-stimulation that aids in T memory/effector cell activation^{164,165}. Additional studies suggest that CD26 is more efficient at promoting activation after stimulation in CD45RO⁺ effector/memory T-cells than in CD45RA⁺ naïve T-cells^{162,166}. CD26 may also enhance the formation of Th1 effector functions, as clinical analysis of Multiple Sclerosis (MS) disease severity revealed that CD4⁺ CD45RO⁺ CD26^{hi} T-cell subsets correlated with more severe MS presentation with enriched Th1 activity¹⁶⁷. However, there is also evidence, primarily with animal models, suggesting that CD26 may have inhibitory roles in T-cell activation. Murine models with CD26 knockout mice exhibited more severe experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), with elevated T-cell activation as assessed through IFNγ and TNF cytokine production and robust T-cell proliferation¹⁶³. Taking this all into account, the function of CD26 remains in question; as there appear to be functional differences that vary within species and within cell type. Our data, combined with data collected from several human studies, suggest that CD26 has positive co-stimulatory effects in CD45RO⁺ cells while having negative co-stimulatory functions in CD45RA⁺ cells.

When looking at the effects of IL-7, we found that both cord and adult naïve CD4 phenotypes, defined by the surface antigens CD45RA⁺ and CD45RO⁻, can be maintained in IL-7 after 7 days in culture. This was an expected fining, as IL-7 is known to have survival and antiapoptotic effects¹⁴¹. Additionally, while there were no differences in the maintenance of naïve phenotype, we did see differences in proliferative responses between the two groups. CB naïve T-cells were able to proliferate approximately 2-fold while the AB naïve T-cells were not able to proliferate in response to IL-7. The different proliferative responses to IL-7 further demonstrates the notion that the two groups are intrinsically different. Differences in proliferative responses could likely be attributed to either due to their short lifespan after thymic emigration or due to the disproportionate expression of the IL-7 receptor CD127, which has been shown to be more highly expressed in cord blood T-cells^{12,33,37}.

Under neutral conditions we found that cord blood naïve CD4 T-cells produce lower levels of cytokines than adult peripheral blood naïve CD4 T-cells, yet they are capable of producing elevated levels of Th1 (IFN γ) and Th2 (IL-5 and IL-13) when stimulated under conditions promoting cell differentiation. This was an unexpected finding, as previous studies with mice suggested that neonates have a Th2 bias culminating in a reduced capacity to produce IFN γ and TNF $\alpha^{77,168}$. However, an epidemiological study with PBMC T-cells isolated from over 400 children revealed that there was no significant bias towards Th2 type cytokine production except for IL-13¹⁶⁹. Our data aligns with these outcomes, demonstrating no bias in Th2 cytokine production from freshly stimulated naïve CD4 T-cells from human cord blood. However, we did observe significantly elevated levels of IFN γ and IL-5 in cord blood naïve T-cells when they were expanded under Th1 or Th2 stimulating conditions, respectively. The Th2 polarizing conditions also did not, however, produce elevated levels of IL-4. IL-5 does not affect T-cell differentiation into Th2 effector cells, but instead promotes B cell and eosinophil differentiation and growth.

When isolated naïve CD4 T-cells were stimulated immediately without IL-7 culture, we saw adult blood produce significantly higher levels IFN_γ, yet this difference in cytokine expression was eliminated when naïve CD4 T-cells were cultured in the presence of IL-7 prior to

stimulation. This may be evidence that cord blood naïve CD4 T-cells are held in a relatively unreactive state, and that IL-7 may be removing this inhibition of activation. Additionally, in future research, we would like to examine whether CD26 is playing a role in the observed IFN γ production in freshly isolated naïve CD4 T-cells. As mentioned previously, we found that cord blood naïve CD4 T-cells highly express CD26, and there are conflicting opinions regarding the effect that CD26 has on T-cell activation. If CD26 has inhibitory effects towards CD45RA⁺ T-cell activation then it may explain why we observed that freshly isolated cord blood naïve CD4 T-cells have decreased IFN γ production when compared to adult blood peripheral naïve CD4 T-cells¹³⁸.

CHAPTER FOUR

PROXIMAL TCR SIGNALING PROTEIN ANALYSIS IN CORD AND ADULT NAÏVE CD4 T-CELLS

Introduction

T-cell functions in neonates, such as cytokine production and proliferative responses, are downregulated in response to antigenic stimulation¹⁴. Our data supports this notion, with fresh naïve CD4 T-cells from cord blood displaying significantly lower IFNγ production after stimulation than adult peripheral blood naïve CD4 T-cells. Although surrounded by controversy and conflicting reports, some literature partially attributes the decreased immune responses in the neonatal population to lower numbers of neonatal lymphocytes and that the observed deficiencies in T-cell activation may be due to decreased expression of molecules associated with T-cell activation, such as CD40L and NFAT^{38,44}. We wanted to determine if there are other factors contributing to the decreased T-cell activity exhibited by cord blood naïve CD4 T-cells.

T-cell activation has been extensively studied and well characterized in adults, where optimal activation requires TCR stimulation in addition to the presence of a co-stimulatory molecule, like CD28. TCR signaling utilizes several adaptor proteins and kinases to propagate signal down its signal transduction cascade that ultimately result in activation of the cell. Once bound to its cognate antigen, LCK is recruited to the signaling complex, activated by CD45, and phosphorylates ITAM residues on the cytoplasmic tails of CD3 and ζ -chain of the TCR complex^{97-100,102}. These phosphorylated ITAMs serve as binding sites for Zap70, which is then

further activated by the kinase activity of LCK and may propagate further signaling events through the phosphorylation of LAT, which leads to the recruitment and activation of PLC γ and ultimately resulting activation of the cell¹⁷⁰.

Deficiencies and limitations in protein expression or molecular activity within the TCR signaling pathway may contribute to the hyporeactive nature observed in neonatal T-cells. Furthermore, there has been little research conducted comparing the expression of proximal signaling proteins of naïve CD4 T-cell populations between cord and adult blood. We hypothesize that observed differences in activation responses between cord blood and adult blood naïve CD4 T-cells are due to differences in the expression levels of proteins involved in the TCR signaling pathway.

Expression of Proximal TCR Signaling Proteins

To compare protein expression levels between cord and adult blood T-cells, purified naïve CD4 T-cells were either unstimulated or stimulated with plate bound anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 antibodies for 30 minutes, 3 hours, or 24 hours. After stimulation, cells were lysed and the expression of PLC γ , Zap70, LCK, and ζ -chain were assessed via western blot. PLC γ levels decreased after initial stimulation in both cord blood and adult blood naïve CD4 T-cells and protein levels rebounded after 24 hours stimulation (Fig. 6A). Protein expression levels of cord blood and adult peripheral blood were compared, and there was no significant difference in PLC γ expression in the unstimulated condition (p = 0.3463) or after 30 minutes (p = 0.1584), 3 hours (p = 0.4599) or 24 hours (p = 0.0782) stimulation (Fig. 6B). Levels of Zap70 showed a similar trend, with protein levels initially decreasing with stimulation and an increase in expression upon 24 hours in both CB and AB samples (Fig. 6E,K). However, there was no statistically significant difference observed between cord or adult without stimulation (p = 0.1719) or with 30 minutes (p = 0.7334), 3 hours (p = 0.1974), or 24 hours (p = 0.4421) stimulation (Fig. 6F). Expression of LCK also decreased upon stimulation in both CB and AB samples and returned to baseline levels after 24 hours of stimulation (Fig. 6C,J). Much like PLC γ and Zap70, LCK did not show any statistically significant differences between the two groups in the unstimulated condition (p = 0.7615) or with stimulation for 30 minutes (p = 0.1381), 3 hours (p = 0.4265), or 24 hours (p = 0.9467) (Fig. 6D). Lastly, when looking at the expression of ζ -chain, a difference can be seen between the two groups at 24 hours post stimulation, with adult blood naïve CD4 T-cells maintaining a slightly higher level of protein expression than those from cord blood, however this difference was not statistically significant (p = 0.0679), nor were there significant differences found at the other stimulation conditions of 30 minutes (p = 0.9668) or 3 hours (p = 0.6494) or in the absence of stimulation (p = 0.5451) (Fig. 6H).

Interestingly, unlike the other signaling molecules we investigated, we see protein levels decline with stimulation for both cord and adult blood samples and these levels continued to decrease through 24 hours of stimulation (Fig. 6G,L). Additionally, unlike LCK, PLC γ , or Zap70, ζ -chain displayed statistically significant differences in protein expression between the unstimulated condition and 24 hours stimulation for both cord and adult samples (CB p = 0.0028, adult p = 0.0075). Together, these data suggest that differences in T-cell activity between naïve cord and adult T-cells is not due to expression level of proximal TCR signaling proteins, as we observed no significant differences in protein expressions, yet also show decreased expression of ζ -chain in both CB and adult samples.















Figure 6. Signaling protein expression in cord and adult blood naïve CD4 T-Cells. Naïve CD4 T-cells were purified from cord and adult donors and stimulated with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 antibodies for 30 minutes, 3 hours, 24 hours, or left unstimulated. Western blot analysis of protein expression was quantified via ImageJ. (A,C,E,G) Representative data of PLCγ, LCK, Zap70, and ζ-chain expression, respectively. Numerical values represent protein expression relative to the unstimulated condition and β-actin loading control. (B,D,F,H) Comparison of PLCγ, LCK, Zap70, and ζ-chain expression levels between cord and adult naïve CD4 T-cells at each time point, respectively. Numerical values are derived from the ratio of protein expression to β-actin loading control at each time point. Bars represent mean protein expression of 3 cord and 3 adult donors. (I,J,K,L) Average protein expression to β-actin loading control. Statistical analysis between unstimulated and 24 hours stimulation was conducted. * p < 0.05. **p < 0.005.

Discussion

Our results suggest that the decreased T-cell activity observed in neonates is not due to decreased expression of proximal signaling proteins. These results were somewhat surprising, however, as we expected there to be significant differences between the cord blood and adult peripheral blood naïve CD4 T-cell populations. There is data suggesting differences in the level of PLC activation, and both phosphorylation and expression of LCK and Zap70 in adult and neonatal total T-cell populations that has previously been reported¹⁷¹⁻¹⁷³. Our data suggests that there is no difference between the two populations, and that differences observed in T-cell reactivity are not due to the level of proximal signaling protein expression. However, Miscia's work, while showing differences in proximal signaling molecules, examined total T-cell populations¹⁷². This is different from our work, which is a direct comparison of the naïve CD4 T-cell populations derived from umbilical cord blood and adult peripheral blood. Naïve T-cells compose a large portion of the umbilical cord blood T-cell population, while the adult cellular

composition is mainly effector and memory cells, with a much smaller portion of naïve T-cells than cord blood. As such, a direct comparison of total T-cell populations contains influences from multiple cell types and adds a significant level of complexity during data analysis. Taking this into account, it is possible that the naïve cell populations between adult and cord do not differ in protein expression, as evident by our results, while the differences previously observed in the levels of LCK and Zap70 seen in previous studies of total T-cell populations may be stemming from the larger effector and memory T-cell populations in adult samples.

If the hyporeactive nature of neonatal naïve CD4 T-cells is not due to reduced expression of proximal signaling proteins, then what could be other factors contributing to the differences in T-cell activation between neonates and adults? As mentioned previously, there is some literature supporting the hypothesis that neonates exhibit lower levels of NFAT and CD40L, which would help explain their hyporeactive nature. Deficiencies in CD40L would impact the interaction Tcells have with APCs, thus lowering the strength of the cell/cell interaction and decreasing T-cell stimulation⁴⁴. Deficiencies in NFAT would contribute to decreased calcium influx, a crucial step in the production of cytokines needed for cell proliferation¹⁷⁴. It is unlikely that the differences in T-cell activity are due to surface expression of the $\alpha\beta$ TCR, as there has been no significant difference in TCR expression detected between adult and umbilical cord blood T-cell populations¹⁷⁵.

While there was no statistically significant difference in protein expression levels between cord and adult T-cells, we did see a decrease in ζ -chain expression upon stimulation that continued to decrease with increased stimulation. This is an intriguing finding, as the expression of ζ-chain differs from the activity observed in the other proximal signaling proteins we probed for. PLCy, Zap70, and LCK each showed reduced expression after initial stimulation, however by 24 hours protein levels had risen back up. The return of protein expression level would allow for re-stimulation and further expansion after the initial signaling event had occurred. By this logic, we expected that all proximal signaling molecules would be fully re-expressed by the 24 hour time marker. However, we found that ζ -chain expression does not return to the levels observed in the unstimulated condition by 24 hours. In fact, levels continued to decrease with prolonged stimulation in both the cord blood naïve CD4 s and in the adult peripheral blood naïve CD4 T-cells. This continued decrease in ζ-chain expression has been observed previously in Tcells, however our findings are novel in the fact that this ζ -chain activity has not been shown in the human naïve cell population in any literature we have encountered thus far^{176,177}. Additionally, while not reaching the level of statistical significance, there were observable differences in the expression of ζ -chain between cord and adult blood cells. Cord blood appeared to have lower expression by 24 hours than adult blood, suggesting that potential cord blood hyporeactiveness to simulation may be in part due to ζ -chain expression. This being said, there was observable decreases in ζ-chain expression for both cord and adult blood naïve CD4 T-cells with stimulation. While protein degradation occurs frequently after initial stimulation, the low abundance of ζ chain after 24 hours begs the question of how cell signaling occurs again in the absence of the ζ -chain.

 ζ -chain is a critical mediator of signaling events through its interaction within the TCR and with Zap70 and LCK. After the initiation of the signaling pathway, proteins may undergo

lysosomal degradation prior to their re-expression after transcription and translational events. The ability of LCK, PLC γ , and Zap70 to return to appreciable levels by 24 hours stimulation suggests that cells are capable and ready for future signaling events. However, this trend is not observed with ζ -chain, as in both cord and adult there is a continued decrease in expression. The cause of this continued decrease in expression, and why this profile is isolated to that of the ζ -chain has not, to our knowledge, yet been characterized.

Furthermore, should ζ -chain not be re-expressed for future stimulation events, how then, can T-cells propagate future signaling events? A potential answer could be an accessory molecule that could replace CD3 ζ and allow for TCR complex surface expression and facilitate future cell signaling events. This molecule would have to serve the structural and functional role that ζ -chain plays in the TCR complex. There is evidence that suggests that this molecule could be the γ subunit of the Fc ϵ receptor (Fc ϵ RI γ). It was found through molecular cloning that the Fc ϵ RI γ was a member of the CD3 ζ gene family and that they likely derived from the same common ancestral gene. Fc ϵ RI γ is found in a multitude of cell types including T-cells, basophils, macrophages, and natural killer (NK) cells. The Fc ϵ RI γ has also been shown to have structural homology to CD3 ζ and can associate with components of the TCR to help upregulate surface expression of the TCR complex.¹⁷⁸. Thus, Fc ϵ RI γ , at least structurally, replace ζ -chain and allow for the proper assembly of the TCR complex. Additionally, Fc ϵ RI γ contains ITAM motifs, which are key components of the signaling response, likely allowing for T-cell re-stimulation in the absence of ζ -chain due to the functional replacement with Fc ϵ RI γ . However, studies using CD3 ζ knockout mice reconstituted with Fc ϵ RI γ , revealed that while Fc ϵ RI γ was capable of replacing CD3 ζ structurally, the capability for T-cells to signal with Fc ϵ RI γ was greatly reduced¹⁷⁹.

CHAPTER FIVE

GENERAL DISCUSSION

Our results demonstrate that cord blood naïve CD4 T-cells have cell intrinsic differences than adult peripheral blood naïve CD4 T-cells and that the two populations are programmed differently. We found that CD26 is expressed at high levels in naïve CD4 T-cells from cord blood while not found at high levels in naïve CD4 T-cells from adult peripheral blood, suggesting that it could serve as a potential marker for cord blood naïve T-cells. Additionally, we found that surface expression of CD26 increased in response to TCR stimulation in adult T-cells but was relatively unaffected with stimulation in cord blood T-cells. This is suggestive that CD26 may serve different purposes in cord and adult naïve CD4 T-cells.

We also found that both cord blood and adult blood naïve CD4 T-cells can be maintained in a naïve phenotype, as characterized by CD45RA⁺ CD45RO⁻. However, their proliferative responses differ when cultured with IL-7, with cord blood derived naïve CD4 T-cells expanding nearly 2 fold while adult naïve CD4 T-cells did not exhibit any proliferative response, thus further demonstrating the concept that neonatal and adult T-cells are functionally distinct.

Surprisingly, when stimulated to differentiate in to effector Th1/Th2 populations, cord blood derived naïve CD4 T-cells had a higher capability to produce elevated levels of both Th1 (IFN γ) and Th2 (IL-5 and IL-13) like cytokines. This differs from the general dogma, which suggested that cord blood naïve CD4 T-cells had a propensity to form Th2 like responses^{75,168} Furthermore, our data also demonstrated that, when stimulated under neutral conditions, fresh cord blood naïve T-cells produced significantly less IFN γ than adult peripheral blood naïve CD4 T-cells. This deficiency in IFN γ exhibited by cord blood naïve CD4 T-cells is similar to previously reported data, and the differences between cord and adult T-cells in the response to stimulation led us to hypothesize that there were differences within the TCR signaling pathway that could account for the differences in cytokine production by the two cell populations. Our results showed that there were no statistically significant differences in the expression of any proximal signaling proteins involved in the TCR signaling pathway. PLC γ , Zap70, and LCK each showed similar trends throughout stimulation, with protein expression decreasing with initial stimulation and returning to appreciable levels by 24 hours stimulation. The expression pattern of ζ -chain, however, displayed a unique pattern, with reduced expression with initial stimulation that continued to decrease with prolonged stimulation.

Our findings have implications on the current understanding of T-cell immunity and the functions of the neonatal immune system. Notably, our data suggests that the neonatal naïve CD4 T-cells do not have an intrinsic propensity to form Th2 like effector T-cell responses. They are equally as capable of forming Th1 cytokine responses as well as Th2 effector responses, even at a greater capacity when compared to naïve T-cells from adult peripheral blood. This demonstrates that the neonate is capable of forming both humoral and adaptive immune responses to infection. However, further research needs to be conducted to see if these intrinsic naïve CD4 T-cell characteristics are similar *in vivo*, where they are exposed to a more diverse cellular and biochemical environment.

Additionally, our data combined with known immunodeficiencies observed in ADA deficient newborns, outline the importance of CD26 to the functioning of the neonatal immune system¹⁵³. The high expression of CD26 in cord blood naïve CD4 T-cells not only serves a function as a marker we can use for cellular identification, but physiologically it may serve to enhance proliferative responses to antigenic stimulation through its binding to ADA and subsequent cleavage of extracellular adenosine, thus eliminating adenosine's inhibition of proliferation. This deamination of adenosine may be a systemic effect, as ADA may bind both membrane bound and soluble CD26. We have previously found that soluble CD26 is increased in activated cord blood T-cells, thus allowing for systemic T-cell proliferative responses. This increased T-cell proliferative responses may help to compensate for decreases in T-cell activation observed in neonatal T-cells. Observed decreases in T-cell activation exhibited by neonates helps to explain why they are susceptible to sever and prolonged infections. Less responsive T-cells leave them with deficiencies in both humoral and cellular mediated immune responses. Furthermore, their decreased activation profiles likely have large implications on their ability to clear established infections.

Our data revealed that the decreased responsiveness to TCR stimulation exhibited by neonatal T-cells, when compared to those derived from adult peripheral blood, is not due to deficiencies in proximal TCR signaling components. While protein expression levels do not differ between adult and neonatal naïve T-cells, future research is needed to investigate the activation cascades between the two populations. It is possible that neonates have deficiencies in phosphorylation events responsible for the propagation of TCR signals, which would have no effect on total protein expression but could have effects on proliferative response and cytokine production in response o stimulation. Additionally, our data focused on soluble fractions of cell lysates, however failed to investigate the insoluble fractions. There may be observable differences in insoluble components between adult and neonatal naïve CD4 T-cells.

Unexpectedly, however, we saw a significant decrease in the expression of ζ -chain between the unstimulated and 24 hours stimulation conditions in both cord and adult blood naïve CD4 T-cells. ζ -chain, a critical component of the TCR complex, contains ITAM motifs that are crucial for the propagation of signal necessary for proper T-cell activation. While we saw decreases in other signaling components after initial stimulation, only ζ -chain failed to be reexpressed by 24 hours stimulation. Further research needs to be conducted regarding the reduction in expression of ζ -chain and the ability of cells to propagate future signaling events. Perhaps the observed reduction is due to ubiquitination and subsequent lysosomal degradation, however fails to explain why this trend is only observed in ζ -chain. It is possible that ζ -chain expression could be deleterious to future signaling events and that cells require a separate mechanism to propagate signal.

In summary, our work suggests that human cord blood naïve CD4 T-cells are intrinsically distinct from adult naïve CD4 T-cells, which may provide insight into observed differences in the immune responses between the two populations. They differ in the expression of CD26, which may further amplify functional differences between the two populations. Additionally, we found that cord blood naïve CD4 T-cells are not pre-programmed to produce Th2 like cytokines yet are able to differentiate into effector subsets with a higher capacity for both Th1 and Th2

cytokine production than adult T-cells. Furthermore, we found that freshly isolated cord blood naïve CD4 T-cells display a reduced response to antigenic stimulation in comparison to adult naïve CD4 T-cells that is not due to deficiencies in signaling molecules. Lastly, we found that prolonged stimulation of both cord blood and adult blood naïve CD4 T-cells results in a continued decrease in ζ -chain expression, which differs from expression dynamics exhibited by other signaling molecules. This is suggestive that there are ζ -chain independent mechanisms of propagating stimulatory signals in naïve T-cells.

REFERENCE LIST

- 1. Basha S, Surendran N, Pichichero M. Immune responses in neonates. *Expert Review of Clinical Immunology*. 2014;10(9):1171-1184.
- 2. Watson RS, Carcillo JA, Linde-Zwirble WT, Clermont G, Lidicker J, Angus DC. The epidemiology of severe sepsis in children in the united states. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*. 2003;167(5):695-701.
- 3. Lawn JE, Cousens S, Zupan J, Lancet Neonatal Survival Steering Team. 4 million neonatal deaths: When? why? *Lancet*. 2005;365(9462):891-900.
- Wynn JL, Scumpia PO, Winfield RD, et al. Defective innate immunity predisposes murine neonates to poor sepsis outcome but is reversed by TLR agonists. *Blood*. 2008;112(5):1750-1758.
- 5. Erdman SH, Christensen RD, Bradley PP, Rothstein G. Supply and release of storage neutrophils. A developmental study. *Biol Neonate*. 1982;41(3-4):132-137.
- 6. Melvan JN, Bagby GJ, Welsh DA, Nelson S, Zhang P. Neonatal sepsis and neutrophil insufficiencies. *Int Rev Immunol*. 2010;29(3):315-348.
- 7. Basha S, Surendran N, Pichichero M. Immune responses in neonates. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol*. 2014;10(9):1171-1184.
- 8. SILVERSTEIN AM, PRENDERGAST RA, KRANER KL. Fetal response to antigenic stimulus. iv. rejection of skin homografts by the fetal lamb. *J Exp Med*. 1964;119:955-964.
- 9. Owen RD. Immunogenetic consequences of vascular anastomoses between bovine twins. *Science*. 1945;102(2651):400-401.
- 10. Billingham RE, Brent L, Medawar PB. 'Actively acquired tolerance' of foreign cells. 1953. *J Immunol.* 2010;184(1):5-8.
- Kollmann TR, Kampmann B, Mazmanian SK, Marchant A, Levy O. Protecting the newborn and young infant from infectious diseases: Lessons from immune ontogeny. *Immunity*. 2017;46(3):350-363

- 12. Marchant A, Goldman M. T cell-mediated immune responses in human newborns: Ready to learn? *Clin Exp Immunol*. 2005;141(1):10-18.
- 13. Garcia AM, Fadel SA, Cao S, Sarzotti M. T cell immunity in neonates. *Immunol Res.* 2000;22(2-3):177-190.
- 14. Hassan J, Reen DJ. Cord blood CD4+ CD45RA+ T cells achieve a lower magnitude of activation when compared with their adult counterparts. *Immunology*. 1997;90(3):397-401.
- 15. Barbey C, Irion O, Helg C, et al. Characterisation of the cytotoxic alloresponse of cord blood. *Bone Marrow Transplant.* 1998;22 Suppl 1:S26-30.
- 16. Adkins B, Hamilton K. Freshly isolated, murine neonatal T cells produce IL-4 in response to anti-CD3 stimulation. *J Immunol*. 1992;149(11):3448-3455.
- 17. Piguet PF, Irle C, Kollatte E, Vassalli P. Post-thymic T lymphocyte maturation during ontogenesis. *J Exp Med.* 1981;154(3):581-593.
- 18. Splawski JB, Jelinek DF, Lipsky PE. Delineation of the functional capacity of human neonatal lymphocytes. *J Clin Invest*. 1991;87(2):545-553.
- 19. Grossman Z, Singer A. Tuning of activation thresholds explains flexibility in the selection and development of T cells in the thymus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1996;93(25):14747-14752.
- 20. Sebzda E, Mariathasan S, Ohteki T, Jones R, Bachmann MF, Ohashi PS. Selection of the T cell repertoire. *Annu Rev Immunol*. 1999;17:829-874.
- 21. Lind EF, Prockop SE, Porritt HE, Petrie HT. Mapping precursor movement through the postnatal thymus reveals specific microenvironments supporting defined stages of early lymphoid development. *J Exp Med.* 2001;194(2):127-134.
- 22. Klein L, Kyewski B, Allen PM, Hogquist KA. Positive and negative selection of the T cell repertoire: What thymocytes see (and don't see). *Nat Rev Immunol*. 2014;14(6):377-391.
- 23. von Boehmer H. Positive selection of lymphocytes. Cell. 1994;76(2):219-228.
- 24. Santori FR, Kieper WC, Brown SM, et al. Rare, structurally homologous self-peptides promote thymocyte positive selection. *Immunity*. 2002;17(2):131-142.

- 25. Nikolic-Zugic J, Bevan MJ. Role of self-peptides in positively selecting the T-cell repertoire. *Nature*. 1990;344(6261):65-67.
- 26. von Boehmer H, Teh HS, Kisielow P. The thymus selects the useful, neglects the useless and destroys the harmful. *Immunol Today*. 1989;10(2):57-61.
- 27. Nossal GJ. Negative selection of lymphocytes. Cell. 1994;76(2):229-239.
- 28. Shortman K, Wu L. Early T lymphocyte progenitors. Annu Rev Immunol. 1996;14:29-47.
- 29. Werlen G, Hausmann B, Naeher D, Palmer E. Signaling life and death in the thymus: Timing is everything. *Science*. 2003;299(5614):1859-1863.
- 30. Fink PJ. The biology of recent thymic emigrants. Annu Rev Immunol. 2013;31:31-50.
- 31. De Rosa SC, Herzenberg LA, Herzenberg LA, Roederer M. 11-color, 13-parameter flow cytometry: Identification of human naive T cells by phenotype, function, and T-cell receptor diversity. *Nat Med.* 2001;7(2):245-248.
- 32. van den Broek T, Borghans JAM, van Wijk F. The full spectrum of human naive T cells. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2018.
- 33. Schonland SO, Zimmer JK, Lopez-Benitez CM, et al. Homeostatic control of T-cell generation in neonates. *Blood*. 2003;102(4):1428-1434.
- Schmiedeberg K, Krause H, Rohl FW, Hartig R, Jorch G, Brunner-Weinzierl MC. T cells of infants are mature, but hyporeactive due to limited Ca2+ influx. *PLoS One*. 2016;11(11):e0166633.
- 35. Hassan J, Reen DJ. Human recent thymic emigrants--identification, expansion, and survival characteristics. *J Immunol*. 2001;167(4):1970-1976.
- 36. Soares MV, Borthwick NJ, Maini MK, Janossy G, Salmon M, Akbar AN. IL-7-dependent extrathymic expansion of CD45RA+ T cells enables preservation of a naive repertoire. *J Immunol*. 1998;161(11):5909-5917.
- 37. Fukui T, Katamura K, Abe N, et al. IL-7 induces proliferation, variable cytokine-producing ability and IL-2 responsiveness in naive CD4+ T-cells from human cord blood. *Immunol Lett.* 1997;59(1):21-28.
- 38. Kadereit S, Mohammad SF, Miller RE, et al. Reduced NFAT1 protein expression in human umbilical cord blood T lymphocytes. *Blood*. 1999;94(9):3101-3107.

- Kaminski BA, Kadereit S, Miller RE, et al. Reduced expression of NFAT-associated genes in UCB versus adult CD4+ T lymphocytes during primary stimulation. *Blood*. 2003;102(13):4608-4617.
- 40. O'Neill RM, Reen DJ. Equivalent functional nuclear factor of activated T cell 1 mRNA and protein expression in cord blood and adult T cells. *Transplantation*. 2003;76(10):1526-1528.
- 41. Suarez A, Mozo L, Gayo A, Simo A, Gutierrez C. Induction of functional CD154 (CD40 ligand) in neonatal T cells by cAMP-elevating agents. *Immunology*. 2000;100(4):432-440.
- 42. Splawski JB, Nishioka J, Nishioka Y, Lipsky PE. CD40 ligand is expressed and functional on activated neonatal T cells. *J Immunol*. 1996;156(1):119-127.
- 43. Durandy A, De Saint Basile G, Lisowska-Grospierre B, et al. Undetectable CD40 ligand expression on T cells and low B cell responses to CD40 binding agonists in human newborns. *J Immunol*. 1995;154(4):1560-1568.
- 44. Nonoyama S, Penix LA, Edwards CP, et al. Diminished expression of CD40 ligand by activated neonatal T cells. *J Clin Invest*. 1995;95(1):66-75.
- 45. Fuleihan R, Ahern D, Geha RS. Decreased expression of the ligand for CD40 in newborn lymphocytes. *Eur J Immunol*. 1994;24(8):1925-1928.
- 46. Ebert LM, Schaerli P, Moser B. Chemokine-mediated control of T cell traffic in lymphoid and peripheral tissues. *Mol Immunol*. 2005;42(7):799-809.
- 47. Mackay CR. Migration pathways and immunologic memory among T lymphocytes. *Semin Immunol*. 1992;4(1):51-58.
- 48. Mosmann TR, Coffman RL. TH1 and TH2 cells: Different patterns of lymphokine secretion lead to different functional properties. *Annu Rev Immunol*. 1989;7:145-173.
- 49. Zhu J, Yamane H, Paul WE. Differentiation of effector CD4 T cell populations (*). *Annu Rev Immunol*. 2010;28:445-489.
- 50. Mullen AC, High FA, Hutchins AS, et al. Role of T-bet in commitment of TH1 cells before IL-12-dependent selection. *Science*. 2001;292(5523):1907-1910.
- Hsieh CS, Macatonia SE, Tripp CS, Wolf SF, O'Garra A, Murphy KM. Development of TH1 CD4+ T cells through IL-12 produced by listeria-induced macrophages. *Science*. 1993;260(5107):547-549.

- 52. Romagnani S. T-cell subsets (Th1 versus Th2). Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2000;85(1):9-18; quiz 18, 21.
- 53. Le Gros G, Ben-Sasson SZ, Seder R, Finkelman FD, Paul WE. Generation of interleukin 4 (IL-4)-producing cells in vivo and in vitro: IL-2 and IL-4 are required for in vitro generation of IL-4-producing cells. J Exp Med. 1990;172(3):921-929.
- 54. Swain SL, Weinberg AD, English M, Huston G. IL-4 directs the development of Th2-like helper effectors. *J Immunol*. 1990;145(11):3796-3806.
- 55. Zheng W, Flavell RA. The transcription factor GATA-3 is necessary and sufficient for Th2 cytokine gene expression in CD4 T cells. *Cell*. 1997;89(4):587-596.
- 56. Aggarwal S, Ghilardi N, Xie MH, de Sauvage FJ, Gurney AL. Interleukin-23 promotes a distinct CD4 T cell activation state characterized by the production of interleukin-17. *J Biol Chem.* 2003;278(3):1910-1914.
- 57. Veldhoen M, Hocking RJ, Atkins CJ, Locksley RM, Stockinger B. TGFbeta in the context of an inflammatory cytokine milieu supports de novo differentiation of IL-17-producing T cells. *Immunity*. 2006;24(2):179-189.
- 58. Zhou L, Ivanov II, Spolski R, et al. IL-6 programs T(H)-17 cell differentiation by promoting sequential engagement of the IL-21 and IL-23 pathways. *Nat Immunol*. 2007;8(9):967-974.
- 59. Ivanov II, Zhou L, Littman DR. Transcriptional regulation of Th17 cell differentiation. *Semin Immunol*. 2007;19(6):409-417.
- 60. Zheng SG, Wang J, Wang P, Gray JD, Horwitz DA. IL-2 is essential for TGF-beta to convert naive CD4+CD25- cells to CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells and for expansion of these cells. *J Immunol*. 2007;178(4):2018-2027.
- Nakamura K, Kitani A, Fuss I, et al. TGF-beta 1 plays an important role in the mechanism of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cell activity in both humans and mice. *J Immunol*. 2004;172(2):834-842.
- 62. Wegmann TG, Lin H, Guilbert L, Mosmann TR. Bidirectional cytokine interactions in the maternal-fetal relationship: Is successful pregnancy a TH2 phenomenon? *Immunol Today*. 1993;14(7):353-356.
- 63. Chaouat G, Menu E, Clark DA, Dy M, Minkowski M, Wegmann TG. Control of fetal survival in CBA x DBA/2 mice by lymphokine therapy. *J Reprod Fertil*. 1990;89(2):447-458.

- 64. Raghupathy R, Makhseed M, Azizieh F, Omu A, Gupta M, Farhat R. Cytokine production by maternal lymphocytes during normal human pregnancy and in unexplained recurrent spontaneous abortion. *Hum Reprod.* 2000;15(3):713-718.
- 65. Marzi M, Vigano A, Trabattoni D, et al. Characterization of type 1 and type 2 cytokine production profile in physiologic and pathologic human pregnancy. *Clin Exp Immunol*. 1996;106(1):127-133.
- 66. Reinhard G, Noll A, Schlebusch H, Mallmann P, Ruecker AV. Shifts in the TH1/TH2 balance during human pregnancy correlate with apoptotic changes. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 1998;245(3):933-938.
- 67. Rastogi D, Wang C, Lendor C, Rothman PB, Miller RL. T-helper type 2 polarization among asthmatics during and following pregnancy. *Clin Exp Allergy*. 2006;36(7):892-898.
- 68. Bryson YJ, Winter HS, Gard SE, Fischer TJ, Stiehm ER. Deficiency of immune interferon production by leukocytes of normal newborns. *Cell Immunol*. 1980;55(1):191-200.
- 69. Wilson CB, Westall J, Johnston L, Lewis DB, Dower SK, Alpert AR. Decreased production of interferon-gamma by human neonatal cells. intrinsic and regulatory deficiencies. *J Clin Invest*. 1986;77(3):860-867.
- Marodi L, Kaposzta R, Campbell DE, Polin RA, Csongor J, Johnston RB, Jr. Candidacidal mechanisms in the human neonate. impaired IFN-gamma activation of macrophages in newborn infants. *J Immunol*. 1994;153(12):5643-5649.
- 71. Joyner JL, Augustine NH, Taylor KA, La Pine TR, Hill HR. Effects of group B streptococci on cord and adult mononuclear cell interleukin-12 and interferon-gamma mRNA accumulation and protein secretion. *J Infect Dis.* 2000;182(3):974-977.
- 72. Lee SM, Suen Y, Chang L, et al. Decreased interleukin-12 (IL-12) from activated cord versus adult peripheral blood mononuclear cells and upregulation of interferon-gamma, natural killer, and lymphokine-activated killer activity by IL-12 in cord blood mononuclear cells. *Blood.* 1996;88(3):945-954.
- 73. Langrish CL, Buddle JC, Thrasher AJ, Goldblatt D. Neonatal dendritic cells are intrinsically biased against th-1 immune responses. *Clin Exp Immunol*. 2002;128(1):118-123.
- 74. Marodi L. Down-regulation of Th1 responses in human neonates. *Clin Exp Immunol*. 2002;128(1):1-2.

- 75. Chen N, Gao Q, Field EH. Expansion of memory Th2 cells over Th1 cells in neonatal primed mice. *Transplantation*. 1995;60(11):1187-1193.
- 76. Opiela SJ, Levy RB, Adkins B. Murine neonates develop vigorous in vivo cytotoxic and Th1/Th2 responses upon exposure to low doses of NIMA-like alloantigens. *Blood*. 2008;112(4):1530-1538.
- 77. Rose S, Lichtenheld M, Foote MR, Adkins B. Murine neonatal CD4+ cells are poised for rapid Th2 effector-like function. *J Immunol*. 2007;178(5):2667-2678.
- Garboczi DN, Ghosh P, Utz U, Fan QR, Biddison WE, Wiley DC. Structure of the complex between human T-cell receptor, viral peptide and HLA-A2. *Nature*. 1996;384(6605):134-141.
- 79. Garcia KC, Degano M, Stanfield RL, et al. An alphabeta T cell receptor structure at 2.5 A and its orientation in the TCR-MHC complex. *Science*. 1996;274(5285):209-219.
- 80. Eckle SB, Turner SJ, Rossjohn J, McCluskey J. Predisposed alphabeta T cell antigen receptor recognition of MHC and MHC-I like molecules? *Curr Opin Immunol*. 2013;25(5):653-659.
- 81. Reinherz EL, Tan K, Tang L, et al. The crystal structure of a T cell receptor in complex with peptide and MHC class II. *Science*. 1999;286(5446):1913-1921.
- 82. Germain RN. T-cell development and the CD4-CD8 lineage decision. *Nat Rev Immunol*. 2002;2(5):309-322.
- 83. Spits H. Development of alphabeta T cells in the human thymus. *Nat Rev Immunol*. 2002;2(10):760-772.
- 84. Holtmeier W, Kabelitz D. Gammadelta T cells link innate and adaptive immune responses. *Chem Immunol Allergy*. 2005;86:151-183.
- 85. Acuto O, Hussey RE, Fitzgerald KA, et al. The human T cell receptor: Appearance in ontogeny and biochemical relationship of alpha and beta subunits on IL-2 dependent clones and T cell tumors. *Cell*. 1983;34(3):717-726.
- 86. Meuer SC, Acuto O, Hussey RE, et al. Evidence for the T3-associated 90K heterodimer as the T-cell antigen receptor. *Nature*. 1983;303(5920):808-810.
- 87. Rudolph MG, Stanfield RL, Wilson IA. How TCRs bind MHCs, peptides, and coreceptors. *Annu Rev Immunol*. 2006;24:419-466.

- 88. Kim ST, Shin Y, Brazin K, et al. TCR mechanobiology: Torques and tunable structures linked to early T cell signaling. *Front Immunol.* 2012;3:76.
- 89. Wucherpfennig KW, Gagnon E, Call MJ, Huseby ES, Call ME. Structural biology of the Tcell receptor: Insights into receptor assembly, ligand recognition, and initiation of signaling. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol*. 2010;2(4):a005140.
- 90. Clevers H, Alarcon B, Wileman T, Terhorst C. The T cell receptor/CD3 complex: A dynamic protein ensemble. *Annu Rev Immunol*. 1988;6:629-662.
- 91. Kuhns MS, Badgandi HB. Piecing together the family portrait of TCR-CD3 complexes. *Immunol Rev.* 2012;250(1):120-143.
- 92. Acuto O, Meuer SC, Hodgdon JC, Schlossman SF, Reinherz EL. Peptide variability exists within alpha and beta subunits of the T cell receptor for antigen. *J Exp Med*. 1983;158(4):1368-1373.
- 93. Meuer SC, Fitzgerald KA, Hussey RE, Hodgdon JC, Schlossman SF, Reinherz EL. Clonotypic structures involved in antigen-specific human T cell function. relationship to the T3 molecular complex. *J Exp Med*. 1983;157(2):705-719.
- 94. Reth M. Antigen receptor tail clue. Nature. 1989;338(6214):383-384.
- 95. Underhill DM, Goodridge HS. The many faces of ITAMs. *Trends Immunol*. 2007;28(2):66-73.
- 96. Weiss A. T cell antigen receptor signal transduction: A tale of tails and cytoplasmic proteintyrosine kinases. *Cell*. 1993;73(2):209-212.
- 97. Samelson LE, Patel MD, Weissman AM, Harford JB, Klausner RD. Antigen activation of murine T cells induces tyrosine phosphorylation of a polypeptide associated with the T cell antigen receptor. *Cell*. 1986;46(7):1083-1090.
- June CH, Fletcher MC, Ledbetter JA, et al. Inhibition of tyrosine phosphorylation prevents T-cell receptor-mediated signal transduction. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1990;87(19):7722-7726.
- 99. Samelson LE, Phillips AF, Luong ET, Klausner RD. Association of the fyn protein-tyrosine kinase with the T-cell antigen receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1990;87(11):4358-4362.

- 100. Baniyash M, Garcia-Morales P, Luong E, Samelson LE, Klausner RD. The T cell antigen receptor zeta chain is tyrosine phosphorylated upon activation. *J Biol Chem.* 1988;263(34):18225-18230.
- 101. Barber EK, Dasgupta JD, Schlossman SF, Trevillyan JM, Rudd CE. The CD4 and CD8 antigens are coupled to a protein-tyrosine kinase (p56lck) that phosphorylates the CD3 complex. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1989;86(9):3277-3281.
- 102. Alexander DR. The CD45 tyrosine phosphatase: A positive and negative regulator of immune cell function. *Semin Immunol*. 2000;12(4):349-359.
- 103. Chan AC, Iwashima M, Turck CW, Weiss A. ZAP-70: A 70 kd protein-tyrosine kinase that associates with the TCR zeta chain. *Cell*. 1992;71(4):649-662.
- 104. Iwashima M, Irving BA, van Oers NS, Chan AC, Weiss A. Sequential interactions of the TCR with two distinct cytoplasmic tyrosine kinases. *Science*. 1994;263(5150):1136-1139.
- 105. Zhang W, Sloan-Lancaster J, Kitchen J, Trible RP, Samelson LE. LAT: The ZAP-70 tyrosine kinase substrate that links T cell receptor to cellular activation. *Cell*. 1998;92(1):83-92.
- 106. Zhang W, Sloan-Lancaster J, Kitchen J, Trible RP, Samelson LE. LAT: The ZAP-70 tyrosine kinase substrate that links T cell receptor to cellular activation. *Cell*. 1998;92(1):83-92.
- 107. Finco TS, Kadlecek T, Zhang W, Samelson LE, Weiss A. LAT is required for TCRmediated activation of PLCgamma1 and the ras pathway. *Immunity*. 1998;9(5):617-626.
- 108. Berridge MJ, Irvine RF. Inositol trisphosphate, a novel second messenger in cellular signal transduction. *Nature*. 1984;312(5992):315-321.
- 109. Berridge MJ, Lipp P, Bootman MD. The versatility and universality of calcium signalling. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* 2000;1(1):11-21.
- 110. Hogan PG, Chen L, Nardone J, Rao A. Transcriptional regulation by calcium, calcineurin, and NFAT. *Genes Dev.* 2003;17(18):2205-2232.
- 111. Ebinu JO, Bottorff DA, Chan EY, Stang SL, Dunn RJ, Stone JC. RasGRP, a ras guanyl nucleotide- releasing protein with calcium- and diacylglycerol-binding motifs. *Science*. 1998;280(5366):1082-1086.

- 112. Hurley JH, Misra S. Signaling and subcellular targeting by membrane-binding domains. *Annu Rev Biophys Biomol Struct*. 2000;29:49-79.
- 113. Rosse C, Linch M, Kermorgant S, Cameron AJ, Boeckeler K, Parker PJ. PKC and the control of localized signal dynamics. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*. 2010;11(2):103-112.
- 114. Los M, Schenk H, Hexel K, Baeuerle PA, Droge W, Schulze-Osthoff K. IL-2 gene expression and NF-kappa B activation through CD28 requires reactive oxygen production by 5-lipoxygenase. *EMBO J.* 1995;14(15):3731-3740.
- 115. Kosco KA, Cerignoli F, Williams S, Abraham RT, Mustelin T. SKAP55 modulates T cell antigen receptor-induced activation of the ras-erk-AP1 pathway by binding RasGRP1. *Mol Immunol.* 2008;45(2):510-522.
- 116. Karin M, Liu Z, Zandi E. AP-1 function and regulation. *Curr Opin Cell Biol*. 1997;9(2):240-246.
- 117. Lenschow DJ, Walunas TL, Bluestone JA. CD28/B7 system of T cell costimulation. *Annu Rev Immunol*. 1996;14:233-258.
- 118. Tseng SY, Otsuji M, Gorski K, et al. B7-DC, a new dendritic cell molecule with potent costimulatory properties for T cells. *J Exp Med*. 2001;193(7):839-846.
- 119. Green JM, Noel PJ, Sperling AI, et al. Absence of B7-dependent responses in CD28deficient mice. *Immunity*. 1994;1(6):501-508.
- 120. Dong C, Juedes AE, Temann UA, et al. ICOS co-stimulatory receptor is essential for T-cell activation and function. *Nature*. 2001;409(6816):97-101.
- 121. Hutloff A, Dittrich AM, Beier KC, et al. ICOS is an inducible T-cell co-stimulator structurally and functionally related to CD28. *Nature*. 1999;397(6716):263-266.
- 122. Lohning M, Hutloff A, Kallinich T, et al. Expression of ICOS in vivo defines CD4+ effector T cells with high inflammatory potential and a strong bias for secretion of interleukin 10. *J Exp Med*. 2003;197(2):181-193.
- 123. Krummel MF, Allison JP. CD28 and CTLA-4 have opposing effects on the response of T cells to stimulation. *J Exp Med.* 1995;182(2):459-465.
- 124. Brunet JF, Denizot F, Luciani MF, et al. A new member of the immunoglobulin superfamily--CTLA-4. *Nature*. 1987;328(6127):267-270.

- 125. Waterhouse P, Penninger JM, Timms E, et al. Lymphoproliferative disorders with early lethality in mice deficient in ctla-4. *Science*. 1995;270(5238):985-988.
- 126. Tivol EA, Borriello F, Schweitzer AN, Lynch WP, Bluestone JA, Sharpe AH. Loss of CTLA-4 leads to massive lymphoproliferation and fatal multiorgan tissue destruction, revealing a critical negative regulatory role of CTLA-4. *Immunity*. 1995;3(5):541-547.
- 127. Freeman GJ, Long AJ, Iwai Y, et al. Engagement of the PD-1 immunoinhibitory receptor by a novel B7 family member leads to negative regulation of lymphocyte activation. *J Exp Med*. 2000;192(7):1027-1034.
- 128. Latchman Y, Wood CR, Chernova T, et al. PD-L2 is a second ligand for PD-1 and inhibits T cell activation. *Nat Immunol*. 2001;2(3):261-268.
- 129. Nishimura H, Nose M, Hiai H, Minato N, Honjo T. Development of lupus-like autoimmune diseases by disruption of the PD-1 gene encoding an ITIM motif-carrying immunoreceptor. *Immunity*. 1999;11(2):141-151.
- 130. Nishimura H, Okazaki T, Tanaka Y, et al. Autoimmune dilated cardiomyopathy in PD-1 receptor-deficient mice. *Science*. 2001;291(5502):319-322.
- 131. Carter L, Fouser LA, Jussif J, et al. PD-1:PD-L inhibitory pathway affects both CD4(+) and CD8(+) T cells and is overcome by IL-2. *Eur J Immunol*. 2002;32(3):634-643.
- 132. Wilson CB, Penix L, Weaver WM, Melvin A, Lewis DB. Ontogeny of T lymphocyte function in the neonate. *Am J Reprod Immunol*. 1992;28(3-4):132-135.
- 133. Rowe J, Macaubas C, Monger TM, et al. Antigen-specific responses to diphtheria-tetanusacellular pertussis vaccine in human infants are initially Th2 polarized. *Infect Immun*. 2000;68(7):3873-3877.
- 134. Halonen M, Lohman IC, Stern DA, et al. Th1/Th2 patterns and balance in cytokine production in the parents and infants of a large birth cohort. *J Immunol*. 2009;182(5):3285-3293.
- 135. Ribeiro-do-Couto LM, Boeije LC, Kroon JS, et al. High IL-13 production by human neonatal T cells: Neonate immune system regulator? *Eur J Immunol*. 2001;31(11):3394-3402.
- 136. Webster RB, Rodriguez Y, Klimecki WT, Vercelli D. The human IL-13 locus in neonatal CD4+ T cells is refractory to the acquisition of a repressive chromatin architecture. *J Biol Chem.* 2007;282(1):700-709.

- 137. Szabolcs P, Park KD, Reese M, Marti L, Broadwater G, Kurtzberg J. Coexistent naive phenotype and higher cycling rate of cord blood T cells as compared to adult peripheral blood. *Exp Hematol.* 2003;31(8):708-714.
- 138. Gorrell MD, Gysbers V, McCaughan GW. CD26: A multifunctional integral membrane and secreted protein of activated lymphocytes. *Scand J Immunol*. 2001;54(3):249-264.
- 139. Kimmig S, Przybylski GK, Schmidt CA, et al. Two subsets of naive T helper cells with distinct T cell receptor excision circle content in human adult peripheral blood. *J Exp Med*. 2002;195(6):789-794.
- 140. Ohnuma K, Dang NH, Morimoto C. Revisiting an old acquaintance: CD26 and its molecular mechanisms in T cell function. *Trends Immunol*. 2008;29(6):295-301.
- 141. Fry TJ, Mackall CL. Interleukin-7: Master regulator of peripheral T-cell homeostasis? *Trends Immunol.* 2001;22(10):564-571.
- 142. Ciebiada M, Kasztalska K, Gorska-Ciebiada M, Barylski M, Gorski P. Expression of IL-7 receptor in human peripheral regulatory T cells. *Arch Med Sci.* 2013;9(3):555-560.
- 143. Azevedo RI, Soares MV, Barata JT, et al. IL-7 sustains CD31 expression in human naive CD4+ T cells and preferentially expands the CD31+ subset in a PI3K-dependent manner. *Blood*. 2009;113(13):2999-3007.
- 144. Tan JT, Dudl E, LeRoy E, et al. IL-7 is critical for homeostatic proliferation and survival of naive T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2001;98(15):8732-8737.
- 145. Bengsch B, Seigel B, Flecken T, Wolanski J, Blum HE, Thimme R. Human Th17 cells express high levels of enzymatically active dipeptidylpeptidase IV (CD26). *J Immunol*. 2012;188(11):5438-5447.
- 146. Amlot PL, Tahami F, Chinn D, Rawlings E. Activation antigen expression on human T cells. I. analysis by two-colour flow cytometry of umbilical cord blood, adult blood and lymphoid tissue. *Clin Exp Immunol*. 1996;105(1):176-182.
- 147. Waumans Y, Baerts L, Kehoe K, Lambeir AM, De Meester I. The dipeptidyl peptidase family, prolyl oligopeptidase, and prolyl carboxypeptidase in the immune system and inflammatory disease, including atherosclerosis. *Front Immunol.* 2015;6:387.
- 148. Chen X. Biochemical properties of recombinant prolyl dipeptidases DPP-IV and DPP8. *Adv Exp Med Biol.* 2006;575:27-32.

- 149. Tanaka T, Camerini D, Seed B, et al. Cloning and functional expression of the T cell activation antigen CD26. *J Immunol*. 1992;149(2):481-486.
- 150. Mentlein R, Gallwitz B, Schmidt WE. Dipeptidyl-peptidase IV hydrolyses gastric inhibitory polypeptide, glucagon-like peptide-1(7-36)amide, peptide histidine methionine and is responsible for their degradation in human serum. *Eur J Biochem*. 1993;214(3):829-835.
- 151. Holst JJ, Deacon CF. Glucagon-like peptide 1 and inhibitors of dipeptidyl peptidase IV in the treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Curr Opin Pharmacol*. 2004;4(6):589-596.
- 152. Martin M, Huguet J, Centelles JJ, Franco R. Expression of ecto-adenosine deaminase and CD26 in human T cells triggered by the TCR-CD3 complex. possible role of adenosine deaminase as costimulatory molecule. *J Immunol*. 1995;155(10):4630-4643.
- 153. Hershfield MS. Genotype is an important determinant of phenotype in adenosine deaminase deficiency. *Curr Opin Immunol*. 2003;15(5):571-577.
- 154. Moriwaki Y, Yamamoto T, Higashino K. Enzymes involved in purine metabolism--a review of histochemical localization and functional implications. *Histol Histopathol*. 1999;14(4):1321-1340.
- 155. Cekic C, Sag D, Day YJ, Linden J. Extracellular adenosine regulates naive T cell development and peripheral maintenance. *J Exp Med*. 2013;210(12):2693-2706.
- 156. Erdmann AA, Gao ZG, Jung U, et al. Activation of Th1 and Tc1 cell adenosine A2A receptors directly inhibits IL-2 secretion in vitro and IL-2-driven expansion in vivo. *Blood*. 2005;105(12):4707-4714.
- 157. De Meester I, Vanham G, Kestens L, et al. Binding of adenosine deaminase to the lymphocyte surface via CD26. *Eur J Immunol*. 1994;24(3):566-570.
- 158. Dong RP, Kameoka J, Hegen M, et al. Characterization of adenosine deaminase binding to human CD26 on T cells and its biologic role in immune response. *J Immunol*. 1996;156(4):1349-1355.
- 159. Dong RP, Tachibana K, Hegen M, et al. Determination of adenosine deaminase binding domain on CD26 and its immunoregulatory effect on T cell activation. *J Immunol*. 1997;159(12):6070-6076.
- 160. Linden J, Cekic C. Regulation of lymphocyte function by adenosine. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 2012;32(9):2097-2103.

- 161. Cordero OJ, Yang CP, Bell EB. On the role of CD26 in CD4 memory T cells. *Immunobiology*. 2007;212(2):85-94.
- 162. Morimoto C, Schlossman SF. The structure and function of CD26 in the T-cell immune response. *Immunol Rev.* 1998;161:55-70.
- 163. Preller V, Gerber A, Wrenger S, et al. TGF-beta1-mediated control of central nervous system inflammation and autoimmunity through the inhibitory receptor CD26. *J Immunol*. 2007;178(7):4632-4640.
- 164. Morimoto C, Schlossman SF. The structure and function of CD26 in the T-cell immune response. *Immunol Rev.* 1998;161:55-70.
- 165. Salgado FJ, Lojo J, Alonso-Lebrero JL, et al. A role for interleukin-12 in the regulation of T cell plasma membrane compartmentation. *J Biol Chem*. 2003;278(27):24849-24857.
- 166. Salgado FJ, Lojo J, Alonso-Lebrero JL, et al. A role for interleukin-12 in the regulation of T cell plasma membrane compartmentation. *J Biol Chem.* 2003;278(27):24849-24857.
- 167. Krakauer M, Sorensen PS, Sellebjerg F. CD4(+) memory T cells with high CD26 surface expression are enriched for Th1 markers and correlate with clinical severity of multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroimmunol*. 2006;181(1-2):157-164.
- 168. Opiela SJ, Levy RB, Adkins B. Murine neonates develop vigorous in vivo cytotoxic and Th1/Th2 responses upon exposure to low doses of NIMA-like alloantigens. *Blood*. 2008;112(4):1530-1538.
- 169. Halonen M, Lohman IC, Stern DA, et al. Th1/Th2 patterns and balance in cytokine production in the parents and infants of a large birth cohort. *J Immunol*. 2009;182(5):3285-3293.
- 170. Courtney AH, Lo WL, Weiss A. TCR signaling: Mechanisms of initiation and propagation. *Trends Biochem Sci.* 2018;43(2):108-123.
- 171. Farber DL. Biochemical signaling pathways for memory T cell recall. *Semin Immunol*. 2009;21(2):84-91.
- 172. Miscia S, Di Baldassarre A, Sabatino G, et al. Inefficient phospholipase C activation and reduced lck expression characterize the signaling defect of umbilical cord T lymphocytes. *J Immunol*. 1999;163(5):2416-2424.

- 173. Sato K, Nagayama H, Takahashi TA. Aberrant CD3- and CD28-mediated signaling events in cord blood T cells are associated with dysfunctional regulation of fas ligand-mediated cytotoxicity. *J Immunol*. 1999;162(8):4464-4471.
- 174. Schmiedeberg K, Krause H, Rohl FW, Hartig R, Jorch G, Brunner-Weinzierl MC. T cells of infants are mature, but hyporeactive due to limited Ca2+ influx. *PLoS One*. 2016;11(11):e0166633.
- 175. Harris DT, Schumacher MJ, Locascio J, et al. Phenotypic and functional immaturity of human umbilical cord blood T lymphocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1992;89(21):10006-10010.
- 176. Bronstein-Sitton N, Wang L, Cohen L, Baniyash M. Expression of the T cell antigen receptor zeta chain following activation is controlled at distinct checkpoints. implications for cell surface receptor down-modulation and re-expression. *J Biol Chem.* 1999;274(33):23659-23665.
- 177. Valitutti S, Muller S, Salio M, Lanzavecchia A. Degradation of T cell receptor (TCR)-CD3zeta complexes after antigenic stimulation. *J Exp Med.* 1997;185(10):1859-1864.
- 178. Rodewald HR, Arulanandam AR, Koyasu S, Reinherz EL. The high affinity fc epsilon receptor gamma subunit (fc epsilon RI gamma) facilitates T cell receptor expression and antigen/major histocompatibility complex-driven signaling in the absence of CD3 zeta and CD3 eta. *J Biol Chem.* 1991;266(24):15974-15978.
- 179. Liu CP, Lin WJ, Huang M, Kappler JW, Marrack P. Development and function of T cells in T cell antigen receptor/CD3 zeta knockout mice reconstituted with fc epsilon RI gamma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1997;94(2):616-621.

VITA

Taylor Keller was born in Denver, CO on September 22, 1993 to George and Jan Keller. He attended St. Olaf College in Northfield, MN where he earned a Bachelor's of Arts in Biology in May 2016. After graduation, Taylor matriculated into the Loyola University Chicago Stritch School Infectious Disease & Immunology Graduate Program, where he worked under the mentorship of Dr. Iwashima.

Taylor's dissertation work was on the intrinsic differences between cord and adult blood naïve T cells. After completion of his MS degree, Taylor will either pursue medical school or find work within the industry.